A. INTRODUCTION

Jai'Mar Scott was convicted of murder in the first degree in

1990. His standard range for that crime was 240 to 320 months.

The defense recommended that the court impose the low end of

the standard range, which was also the mandatory minimum term

for that crime. The court instead imposed an exceptional sentence

of 90d months, which was affirmed by this Court and the

Washington Supreme Court. Because Scott was 17 years old at

the time of the crime, he is now able to petition for early release

pursuant to RCW 9.94A.730, Recent cases invalidating mandatory

life sentences for juveniles are not material to Scott's sentence

because the sentencing court had discretion to impose a sentence

of only 20 years. Scott's collateral attack of his sentence is

untimely, and should have been transferred to this Court for

consideration as a personal restraint petition. This Court should

dismiss the untimely collateral attack.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in concluding that Scott's motion for

resentencing was timely pursuant to RCW 10.73.090 and

10.73.100.

-1-
1607-2 Scott COA



2, The trial court erred in finding that Miller v. Alabama is a

significant change in the law material to Scott's sentence.

3. The trial court erred in finding that State v. Ronquillo is a

significant change in the law material to Scott's sentence.

4. The trial court erred in not transferring Scott's motion for

resentencing to the Court of Appeals for consideration as a

personal restraint petition.

C, STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jai'Mar Scott was convicted by jury verdict in 1990 of

premeditated murder in the first degree. CP 20.E The facts of the

crime are set forth in this Court's decision in State v. Scott, 72 Wn.

App. 207, 866 P.2d 1258 (1993), which affirmed the conviction and

sentence;

On September 27, 1989, Agnes Jackson, age
78, was murdered in her home located at 8312
Wolcott Avenue South in Seattle, Ms. Jackson, who
suffered from Alzheimer's Disease, lived alone.

~ At trial and sentencing, Scott was represented by The Honorable Michael
Trickey. The State would respectfully request that Judge Trickey recuse himself
from consideration of this case. The appearance of fairness doctrine provides
that judges should disqualify themselves in a proceeding in which their
impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including where the judge previously
participated personally and substantially in the underlying proceeding, State v.
Gentr , 183 Wn.2d 749, 761-62, 356 P.3d 714 (2015).
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Police investigation revealed that the murderer
did not use force to gain entry into the house. There
were signs of violence, including bloodstains and
displaced items in Ms, Jackson's living room and in
both bedrooms of the home,

Ms. Jackson's body was found by neighbors in
the back bedroom. Her face was badly beaten and a
telephone cord was bound tightly around her neck.
The victim was naked from the waist down and her
blouse and sweater were pulled up to the base of her
breasts, Stray hairs and two burnt matches were
collected from Ms. Jackson's abdomen.

Detective Lima theorized that the murderer used
matches as a source of light during the attack.
Numerous matchbooks and burnt matches were
found throughout the residence. The contents of
Ms. Jackson's wallet were strewn about on the living
room couch. Her checkbook, which was found on her
bed, had been opened.

Latent fingerprints were lifted from different
location's within the home, One bloody fingerprint was
located in the back bedroom/storage area where the
victim was located. This print was found on a wall
approximately 5 ~/2 feet from the floor. Next to this
print was a bloody afghan, which had been placed
over the window. The afghan normally was kept on
the living room couch.

An autopsy by the King County Medical
Examiner's Office attributed Ms, Jackson's death to
ligature and manual strangulation. Ms. Jackson
suffered six fractures to her neck, including a fracture
through the neck bone to the back of the cervical
spinal column, The autopsy also revealed the
following head injuries; three fractures to the right eye
and cheekbone, a subdural hemorrhage, a fracture to
the base of her skull, and two gaping lacerations to
the top of her head. An internal examination disclosed

-3-
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eight rib fractures, The autopsy also.revealed a faint
contusion on the mons pubis, Dr, Fitterer testified that
all of the injuries looked as though they had occurred
prior to the victim's death.

The police concluded that the victim's own
cane and a broken and bloody glass candy jar lid
were used as weapons in the attack.

Scott had lived next door to Ms. Jackson for
2 years. His mother, Elizabeth White, took care of
Ms. Jackson for $100 a week. Because of this
arrangement, Scott often did chores for Ms. Jackson
and had access to the inside of her home.

On September 28, 1989, the police matched
one of the latent fingerprints lifted from the victim's
home to Scott's fingerprint. Police executed a search
warrant of Scott's home and seized two bloody socks,
a T-shirt wi#h bloodstains and tennis shoes. Scott's
fingerprints were also matched to prints found in
various parks of the victim's home. Pubic hairs which
were removed from the victim's body and clothing
contained the same microscopic characteristics as
Scott's hairs, Blood comparison tests confirmed that
the blood on Scotf's socks and shirt was consistent
with the victim's blood and not Scott's. Police also
found numerous burnt. matches throughout Scott's
bedroom and the same brand of matchbook that was
found in the victim's home. Finally, a bloody shoe
print photographed at the scene was consistent with
the size, tread pattern, and wear pattern of tennis
shoes belonging to Scott.

Id, at 210-12.

Scott was 17 years old when he committed the murder,

CP 20, 29, The juvenile court declined jurisdiction, finding that "the

sophistication and maturity of the respondent Quvenile) by
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consideration of the investigation as shown of his/her home,

environmental situation, emotional attitude and pattern of living is

such that he/she should be treated as an adult." CP 50.2

At sentencing, the parties agreed fihat the standard range

was 240 to 320 months, with 240 months being the mandatory

minimum sentence that could be imposed. CP 86, 100, 109. The

State requested an exceptional sentence above the standard

range, CP 109-19. The defense requested the low end of the

standard range sentence. CP 100. The defense argued that Scott

was only 18 years old and "had nothing in his background to

indicate that he would commit a crime of this violence." CP 67.

The trial court sentenced Scott to an exceptional sentence of 900

months based upon four independent findings: 1) that Scott's

conduct constituted deliberate cruelty, 2) that his conduct was an

abuse of trust, 3) that the crime involved multiple injuries and

4) that the victim was particularly vulnerable. CP 26-28.

On direct appeal, this Court held that the 900-month

sentence imposed was not clearly excessive because "the

aggravating factors are both numerous and individually and

2 The automatic decline statute for very serious offense$ had not yet been
enacted when Scott committed his crime.

-5-
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collectively egregious," Scott, 72 Wn. App.. at 222. The Court of

Appeals decision was affirmed by the Washington Supreme Court

in State v, Ritchie, et al., 126 Wn,2d 388, 398, 894 P.2d 1308

(1995), which held that the sentencing court had properly relied on

"four horrid aggravating factors" in imposing the 900-month

sentence.

In 2016, Scott filed a motion for relief from judgment

requesting a resentencing, CP 4-7. The State asked the superior

court to transfer the motion to this Courk for consideration as a

personal restraint petition pursuant to CrR 7.8. CP 13-18, The

State argued that the motion was untimely. CP 16-18. The court.

denied the State's motion and granted the motion for relief from

judgment. CP 97-99.

D. ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTION
FOR RELIEF FROM JUDGMENT AS IT IS UNTIMELY AND
BARRED BY RCW 10,73.090.

Scott's motion for resentencing is a collateral attack that is

governed by RCW 10.73.090. The collateral attack, filed decades

after the conviction became final, is untimely. The claim of error

does not fall within any of the exceptions to the time bar set forth in
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RCW 10,73.100. As such, pursuant to CrR 7.8(c)(2), the trial court

erred in not transferring the untimely motion to this Court for

consideration as a personal restraint petition.

CrR 7.8(c)(2) provides that the Superior Court shall transfer

a motion for relief from judgment filed by a defendant to the Court

of Appeals for consideration as a personal restraint petition unless

the Superior Court determines that the motion is not time-barred by

the provisions of RCW 10.73.090. Thus, an untimely collateral

attack must be transferred to the Court of Appeals for consideration

as a personal restraint petition. State v, Flaherty, 177 Wn,2d 90;

93, 296 P,3d 904 (2013).

RCW 10,73.090 provides that no motion collaterally

attacking a judgment and sentence may' be filed more than one

year after the judgment becomes final, if the judgment and

sentence is valid on its face and was rendered by a court of

competent jurisdiction. RCW 1 Q.73.090{1). A judgment becomes

final on the date that it is filed with the clerk of the trial court, or the

date that an appellate court issues its mandate disposing of a

timely direct appeal from the conviction, whichever is later, RCW

10.73.090(3), In the present case, the defendant's conviction

-7-
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became final on June 5, 1995, when the mandate from his direct

appeal was issued by the Washington Supreme Court. CP 56,

An exception to the one-year time limit contained in RCW

10.73,090 exists for errors that render the judgment and sentence

"invalid on its face." RCW 10.73.090(1). A judgment is valid on its

face unless the judgment evidences an error without further

elaboration. In re Pers. Restraint of Thompson,, 141 Wn.2d 712, 10 ~

P,3d 380 (2000). "[T]he general rule is that a judgment and

sentence is not valid on its face if the trial judge actually exercised

authority (statutory or otherwise) it did not have." In re Pers.

Restraint of Scott, 173 Wn.2d 911, 917, 271 P.3d 218 (2012). In

the present case, there is no error on the face of the judgment and

sentence. The sentencing court did not exercise authority it did not

have. The judgment and sentence is valid on its face and the

exception for errors that render the judgment facially invalid does

not apply.

RCW 10.73.100(6) provides an exception to the time bar

where there "has been a significant change in the law, whether

substantive or procedural, which is material to the conviction,

sentence, or other order entered in a criminal or civil proceeding

instituted by the state or local government, and either the
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legislature has expressly provided that the change in the law is to

be applied retroactively, or a court, in interpreting a change in the

law that lacks express legislative intent regarding retroactive

application, determines that sufficient reasons exist to require

retroactive application of the changed legal standard." It is this

exception to the time bar that is at issue in this appeal.

1. The Trial Court Erred In Finding That Miller v.
Alabama Is A Significant Change In The Law
Material To Scott's Sentence,

Scott argued below that Miller v. Alabama, _, U.S. _, 132

S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012), is a significant change in the

law material to his sentence. The lower court cited that case in its

ruling granting.the motion for relief from judgment, presumably

finding that Miller meets the qualifications of RCW 10,73,100(6).

The trial court erred in finding that Scott's claim falls within the

exception to the time bar provided in RCW 10,73.100(6) based on

Miller.

The State does not dispute that Miller v, Alabama is a

significant change in the law,3 but the change is not material to

3 The State also does not dispute that Miller v. Alabama announced a substantive
rule that applies retroactively, See Montgomery v. Louisiana, _ U.S, _, 136 S,
Ct, 718, 736, 193 L, Ed. 2d 599 (2016),

_g_
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Scott's conviction and sentence. In Miller, the United States

Supreme Court held that a sentencing scheme constitutes cruel

and unusual punishment if it mandates a sentence of life without

parole for a juvenile offender, 132 S. Ct. at 2469. However, the

Court held that a life without parole sentence may be imposed on a

juvenile offender in a homicide case if a lesser sentence is within

the court's discretion. Id. See Bell v, Uribe, 748 F.3d 857, 870 .

{9t" Cir. 2013), cent. denied, 135 S. Ct. 1545 (2015) (holding that a

life without parole sentence imposed on 16-year-old defendant did

not violate Miller because the sentencing scheme afforded the court

discretion to impose a lower sentence).

Miller is not material to Scott's sentence because a life

sentence was not mandated by statute. Scott's standard range

was 240 to 320 months, as reflected in the judgment and sentence,

and the trial court exercised its discretion in imposing a 900-month

sentence, based on the egregious aggravating facts, CP 122-25.

The sentencing court was free to consider Scott's youth in deciding

whether to impose a standard range sentence, As long as a

sentencing court was free to consider youth and impose less than a

life sentence, a life sentence imposed on a juvenile offender does

not violate the Eighth Amendment, The procedure followed in this
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case was constitutional pursuant to Miller..Miller does not

constitute a significant change in the law material to Scott's

sentence.

Moreover, even if Miller did apply to Scott's -case, the recent

enactment of RCW 9,94A.730 provides the necessary relief, RCW

9.94A.730 provides that "any person convicted of one or more

crimes committed prior to the person's eighteenth birkhday may

petition the indeterminate sentence review board for early release

after serving na less than twenty years of total confinement."

Recently, in Montgomery v. Louisiana, the United States Supreme

Court held that when a life sentence has been imposed on a

juvenile in violation of the rule set forth in Miller v. Alabama, "a

State may remedy a Miller violation by permitting juvenile homicide

offenders to be considered for parole, rather than by resentencing

them." _ U.S. _, 136 S, Ct. 718, 736, 193 L. Ed. 2d 599 (2016).

Scott is now eligible for release pursuant to RCW 9,94A.730,4 and

thus any arguable Miller violation has been remedied by that

procedure, As further interpreted by Montgomery v. Louisiana,

Miller v, Alabama does not mandate resentencing.

4 Scott petitioned for release in 2015. CP 54. His petition for release was
rejected by the Indeterminate Sentence Review Board on April 26, 2016. Scott
has been informed that he may petition again in 2019,
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2. The Trial Court Erred In Finding That State v.
Ronquillo Is A Significant Change In The Law
Material To Scott's Sentence,

In granting the motion for relief from judgment to allow

resentencing, the court also cited State v, Ronquillo, 190 Wn. App.

765, 775, 361 P.3d 779 (2015), presumably finding that Ronquiilo is

a significant change in law pursuant to RCW 10,73.100(6). Like

Miller, Ronquillo is not a significant change in the faw material to

Scott's sentence.

Ronquillo has multiple holdings; but none of them are

material to Scott's sentence. First, this Court held in Ronquillo that

the holding of Miller applies not only to a sentence of life without

parole, but to a "de facto life sentence" that would keep a juvenile

incarcerated until his late 60s, Id, at 775. The State does not

dispute that the sentence imposed here is a de facto life sentence

pursuant to Ronquillo, However, as explained above, the sentence

was not mandated by statute, but chosen by the trial court in its

discretion after considering all the circumstances of the crime,

including Scott's age. In contrast, in Ronquillo's case the

sentencing court imposed the bottom of the standard range for

each count, resulting in a sentence of 615 months. Id. at 769, 774

Because the`Ronquillo sentencing court believed it was imposing
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the lowest sentence authorized by law, it was a mandatory de facto

life sentence. In this case, the sentencing court knew it could

impose a sentence of 20 years and chose not to do so. As such,

neither Miller nor Ronquillo's extension of Miller apply to this case

to render Scott's sentence unconstitutional.

Second, Ronquillo held that Miller applies to aggregate

sentences imposed for multiple crimes. Id. at 777. This holding

has no application in Scott's case, as his sentence was imposed for

a single crime. premeditated murder.

Third, Ronquillo held that RCW 9.94A.730 does not fix a

Miller error. This holding was subsequently overruled by

Montgomery v. Louisiana, as explained supra, and is no longer

valid.

Finally, Ronquillo held that upon remand the sentencing

court should consider the defendant's age in exercising its

discretion whether to impose an exceptional sentence below the

standard range, 190 Wn. App. at 781. Ronquillo had requested an

exceptional sentence below the standard range based upon his

youth, and the trial court refused to impose it. Id. at 780, This

Court directed the trial court to reconsider that basis for an

~i~
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exceptional sentence in light of State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358

P.3d 359 (2015).

Scott did not request an exceptional sentence below the

standard range. CP 100. And indeed, the sentencing court had no

discretion to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard

range, Scott was convicted of murder in the first degree. RCW

9.94A.540(a) (which was RCW 9.94A.120(4) at the time of Scott's

crime) mandates imposition of a minimum term of 20 years for the

crime of murder in the first degree.5 Scott's standard range was

240 to 320 months. CP 109, 121. The sentencing court could not

impose a sentence of less than 20 years, and thus could not have

imposed a sentence below the standard range. See State v. Miller,

110 Wn.2d 528, 756 P,2d 122 (1988), overruled on other grounds

in State v. Barber, 170 Wn,2d 854, 248 P.3d 494 (2p11) (holding

that defendant was misadvised that the court could impose an

exceptional sentence below 20 years for murder in the first degree).

See also State v. Graham, 181 Wn,2d 878, 884, 337 P.3d 319

(2014) (stating "exceptional sentences downward are not available

for persistent offenders, offenses with mandatory minimums, or

6 Former RCW 9,94A,120(4) stated: "An offender convicted of the crime of
murder in the first degree shall be sentenced to a term of total confinement not
less than twenty years."
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some sex offenses,"). An exceptional sentence below the standard

range was not legally available because of the mandatory

minimum. As such, the trial court did not commit the error identified

in O'Dell and Ronquillo and neither of those cases are a significant

change in the law material to Scott's sentence.

This motion for relief from judgment is untimely and should

have been transferred to this Court for consideration as a personal

restraint petition. For the reasons argued above, this Court should

direct the trial court to vacate its order granting the motion, convert

the motion to a personal restraint petition, and dismiss the petition.

E. CONCLUSION

Scott's motion for relief from judgment should be converted

to a personal restraint petition and dismissed as untimely.