FILED
Aug 02, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 75168-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Appellant,

 \mathbf{v} .

JAI'MAR SCOTT, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Jeffrey E. Ellis #17139
Attorney for Mr. Scott
Law Office of Alsept & Ellis
621 SW Morrison St., Ste 1025
Portland, OR 97205
JeffreyErwinEllis@gmail.com

I. INTRODUCTION

In 1990, Jai'mar Scott received a 900–month (75–year) exceptional sentence for a crime committed when he was 17-years old. On appeal, Scott asserted that the sentencing court erroneously failed to take into account his youth when it imposed that life-equivalent sentence. This Court rejected that argument as bordering on the "absurd." *State v. Scott*, 72 Wash.App. 207, 866 P.2d 1258 (1993).

There is now a new constitutional standard of decency for juveniles.

In 2016, Scott returned to King County Superior Court and moved that court to vacate his sentence and to conduct a new sentencing hearing. The trial court agreed that the law had changed and granted the motion. CP 92-94. The State now appeals. CP 95.

II. FACTS

Mr. Scott does not dispute Appellant's factual statement. To briefly summarize, Mr. Scott was convicted of a murder committed when he was 17. At sentencing, Scott's offender score was 0. His standard sentencing range was 240 to 320 months. The court imposed an exceptional sentence of 900 months. CP 120-129. The sentencing court did not make a finding of irreparable incorrigibility or anything resembling such a finding.

As reported on appeal, Scott asserted "that his youth, 17 years old at the time of the crime, limited his 'capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law,' RCW 9.94A.390(1)(e), and thus, the exceptional sentence was improper." This Court rejected the argument that his youth needed to be considered stating that it "borders on the absurd." *Id.* at 218. This Court added:

Granted, teenagers are more impulsive than adults and lack mature judgment. However, Scott's conduct cannot *seriously* be blamed on his "lack of judgment," as he contends. Premeditated murder is not a common teenage vice.

Id. at 219 (emphasis in original). This Court further concluded:

As long as the sentencing court relies solely on valid aggravating factors, that is, does not rely on any inappropriate factors...and so long as the duration of the sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum or otherwise shock the appellate court's conscience in all the circumstances of the case being reviewed, it cannot be said that the sentence, although harsh, is so clearly excessive that no reasonable person would have imposed it. Certainly Scott received the SRA's determinate sentencing equivalence of a life sentence for this crime. The aggravating factors are both numerous and individually and collectively egregious, however. All of the factors fall within the Legislature's own non-exclusive list of examples of valid aggravating factors. It cannot be said that the sentence is clearly excessive in light of all the purposes of the SRA.

Id. at 221-22. See also CP 149-192.

In 2016, Scott file a motion for resentencing arguing that the law had changed and that he was entitled to a new sentencing hearing. CP

4-7. The trial court agreed, reasoning: "An offender's age must be taken into consideration by the Court in imposing a sentence." CP 92-94.

The court continued:

Mr. Scott was not sentenced to life without the possibility of parole, but was sentenced to 900 months. In the case of *State v. Ronquillo*, 190 WA. App. 765 (2015), the Court of Appeals held that a sentencing court must consider the attributes of youth when imposing a "life equivalent" sentence. In that case, 52.5 years was determined to be a "life equivalent" sentence. Surely then, 900 months or 75 years is also a "life equivalent" sentence.

The lower court ordered:

...the Court grants the defendant's motion for relief from judgment and orders that a new sentencing date be set.

Id. Because the State filed a timely appeal from the order, Mr. Scott has not been resentenced.

III. ARGUMENT

A. Introduction

The evolving standards of decency that undergird the Eighth Amendment now mandate that the imposition of a most serious criminal penalty for a juvenile offender cannot proceed as though the defendant was not a child. Because that did not happen when Mr. Scott was sentenced, the lower court judge ordered a new sentencing hearing—a hearing where Scott's youth will be considered and weighed.

There are at least two reasons to affirm the trial court's order. First, a juvenile convicted of a homicide offense cannot be sentenced to life in prison or a life-equivalent sentence absent consideration of the special circumstances which accompany youth. Second, a finding of irreparable incorrigibility or something resembling that standard must accompany any life or life-equivalent sentence for a juvenile. Both of those constitutional rules apply retroactively. Scott's 900-month sentence fails to comply with both constitutional commands.

B. <u>Children are Different, Constitutionally Speaking.</u> Introduction

The Eighth Amendment requires courts to consider a juvenile's chronological age "and its hallmark features—among them, immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences." *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. ____, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 2468 (2012). When Scott was given a *de facto* life sentence, this Court affirmed that his youth was irrelevant to that sentence. That was then. This is now. The Constitution has evolved. The law has changed. That change applies retroactively. This Court should affirm the trial court.

Tracing the Evolution

The characteristics of youth on which *Miller* relied were those first summarized in Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005). Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2464–65. In *Roper* the Court identified three general differences between adults and juveniles central to an Eighth Amendment analysis. First, juveniles more often display "'[a] lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility," often resulting in "impetuous and ill-considered actions and decisions." Roper, 543 U.S. at 569 (quoting Johnson v. Texas, 509 U.S. 350, 367, (1993)). This susceptibility means that their "irresponsible conduct is not as morally reprehensible as that of an adult." Roper, 543 U.S. at 570 (quoting *Thompson v. Oklahoma*, 487 U.S. 815, 835 (1988)). Second, juveniles "are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure." Roper, 543 U.S. at 569. This "vulnerability and comparative lack of control over their immediate surroundings" give juveniles "a greater claim than adults to be forgiven for failing to escape negative influences." *Id.* at 570. Finally, "the character of a juvenile is not as well formed as that of an adult. The personality traits of juveniles ... less fixed." *Id.* at 570. Thus, "it is less supportable to conclude that even a heinous crime

committed by a juvenile is evidence of irretrievably depraved character." *Id.* at 570.

In finding these differences, the Court in *Roper*, *Miller*, and the intervening *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 68 (2010), drew on developments in brain science showing "fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds!—for example, in 'parts of the brain involved in behavior control.'" *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2464 (quoting *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 89–90).

Miller Changed the Law. That Change Applies Retroactively.

Miller took as its starting premise the principle established in Roper and Graham that "children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing." 567 U.S., at____, Miller requires that before sentencing a juvenile to life without parole, the sentencing judge take into account "how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." Id.

The surest way to determine the rule announced in *Miller* is to review *Montgomery v. Alabama*, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2015), which both defined the substantive new rules announced in *Miller* and held that those rules apply retroactively. *Montgomery* stated that "*Miller* requires that before sentencing a juvenile to life without parole, the

sentencing judge take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." *Id.* at 733. In other words, a sentencing judge is required to take youth into account when considering and imposing a life or life-equivalent sentence.

This substantive requirement of *Miller* stands in direct contrast with the decision of this court decades ago that Scott's juvenile status was irrelevant to the sentence imposed—that consideration of his youth was "absurd." 72 Wn.App. at 218. See also State v. O'Dell, 183 Wash.2d 680, 689, 358 P.3d 359 (2015) ("Thus, we find that the trial court did not meaningfully consider youth as a possible mitigating factor in this case, and we remand for a new sentencing hearing."). In fact, this Court's direct appeal opinion in this case was cited in O'Dell as representing the now outmoded relationship between youth and culpability. "When our court made that sweeping conclusion, it did not have the benefit of the studies underlying *Miller*, *Roper*, and *Graham* studies that establish a clear connection between youth and decreased moral culpability for criminal conduct." *Id. O'Dell* recognized this change in the law. "For these reasons, a trial court must be allowed to consider youth as a mitigating factor when imposing a sentence on an offender." Id. at 696.

Miller is not limited to life without parole sentences. This Court made it clear in State v. Ronquillo, 190 Wash.App. 765, 361 P.3d 779 (2015), that "life" includes a life equivalent term of years. In Ronquillo, this Court determined that a sentence of 51.3 years was "a de facto life sentence" and concluded that before imposing it, Miller required the court to "take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." Id. at 775, (quoting Miller, 132 S.Ct. at 2469).

Scott's sentence was even longer and it is indisputable that his youth was not considered.

Miller is also not limited to cases where the only statutorilymandated sentence is life or a life-equivalent sentence. Anytime a
sentencing court is considering such a sentence for a juvenile, the court
must consider the mitigating aspects of youth. Where a sentencing
court had the discretion to impose a term-of-years sentence but was not
required to consider, and did not take into account, the individualized
attributes of the juvenile offender's youth when exercising discretion, a
new sentencing is warranted. Put another way, even in a discretionary
sentencing scheme, the sentencing court's exercise of discretion before
imposing a life sentence must be informed by consideration of the

juvenile offender's "youth and its attendant circumstances" as articulated in *Miller*.

Because the trial court was not required to, and did not take into account, the *Miller* factors, Scott's life-equivalent sentence is unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. In short, "[a]n offender's age is relevant to the Eighth Amendment," *Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2462, and a sentencer must take the juvenile offender's age into account "before imposing a particular penalty." *Id.* at 2471. The Supreme Court's requirement of individualized sentencing for juvenile offenders forbids a sentencer from "treat[ing] every child as an adult," because doing so inevitably ignores the "incompetencies associated with youth," and "disregards the possibility of rehabilitation even when the circumstances most suggest it." *Id.* at 2468.

C. Irreparable Incorrigibility

Montgomery explains that Miller did more than require a sentencing court to consider a juvenile offender's youth before imposing life without parole. Miller established that the penological justifications for life without parole collapse in light of "the distinctive attributes of youth." 132 S.Ct., at 2465. Montgomery explained that Miller held:

Even if a court considers a child's age before sentencing him or her to a lifetime in prison, that sentence still violates the Eighth Amendment for a child whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity. Because *Miller* determined that sentencing a child to life without parole is excessive for all but the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption, it rendered life without parole an unconstitutional penalty for a class of defendants because of their status—that is, juvenile offenders whose crimes reflect the transient immaturity of youth.

Miller announced a substantive rule of law excluding a category of punishment from a class of offenders, i.e., "all but the rarest of juvenile offenders, those whose crimes reflect permanent incorrigibility."

In this case, there was no finding of irreparable incorrigibility and no similar finding. The aggravating factors found by the sentencing court do not suffice.

This case dramatically demonstrates the Eighth Amendment problem of a life-equivalent sentence imposed upon a juvenile offender when the sentencer's discretion is not only not guided by the individualized sentencing factors deemed constitutionally significant in *Miller*, but where the applicable law made youth irrelevant to that sentence. As a seventeen-year-old convicted of murder, Scott faced a sentence range of between 20-30 years and up to the class of crime maximum of life imprisonment. This was the same sentencing range he would have been subject to if he had been an adult. Certainly,

the sentencing court was aware of Scott's age and his lack of prior record, but there is no indication that the court, when exercising its discretion to sentence Scott to a life-equivalent sentence as opposed to a standard range sentence, considered the "distinctive attributes of youth" as later articulated in *Miller* or found that Scott was irreparably incorrigible. Moreover, at the time the sentencing court exercised its discretion in deciding that Scott should never see the outside of prison walls for a crime he committed at age seventeen, the law made Scott's youth not only irrelevant, but an absurd consideration.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court directed in *Miller* that the "distinctive attributes of youth," prohibit sentencing juvenile offenders to life imprisonment without first considering such attributes. In addition, *Miller* prescribed a "hearing where 'youth and its attendant characteristics' are considered as sentencing factors," in order "to separate those juveniles who may be sentenced to life without parole from those who may not." *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 735 (citing *Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2460).

At the heart of *Miller*, *Montgomery*, and indeed the entirety of the the Supreme Court's recent juvenile sentencing jurisprudence

interpreting the Eighth Amendment, is the axiom that "youth matters" for purposes of meting out the law's most serious punishments.

Youth did not matter when Scott was sentenced. The change in the constitutional requirement is a substantive change that applies retroactively. The lower court ordered a new sentencing hearing to be conducted in compliance with the constitution. Based on the above, this Court should affirm.